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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to today's hearing of the City Council's

          4  Committee on Transportation. My name is John Liu, I

          5  have the privilege of chairing this meeting.

          6                 We'll be examining this morning how

          7  the MTA prepares for expected increased ridership

          8  caused by special events, such as ball games, and

          9  also such as holiday events.

         10                 The MTA, the Metropolitan

         11  Transportation Authority, is our large authority

         12  with five agencies, New York City Transit, Long

         13  Island Railroad, Metro North Railroad, Long Island

         14  bus and MTA Bus Company, that provide mass transit

         15  services.

         16                 The New York City area served by the

         17  MTA has some of the, as we know, the worst

         18  congestion problems in the country, and so we rely

         19  on mass transit to move people around.

         20                 And with New York City's growing

         21  population and the improvements in the subways, mass

         22  transit ridership is at all all-time high.

         23  Accommodating the projected increasing numbers of

         24  riders on mass transit is a major challenge for the

         25  MTA.
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          2                 The challenge becomes that much more

          3  pronounced when there are special events that are

          4  coming up, and when these special events happen, we

          5  actually as public officials go out there and

          6  encourage and urge and implore people to take mass

          7  transit so that we can reduce the crush of people

          8  visiting or attending these kind of events. And,

          9  yet, in the past, although there have been times

         10  when the MTA has increased subway and railroad

         11  service, there have also been times when the MTA has

         12  stated that they have not been able to increase the

         13  service levels.

         14                 So, today, we've convened this

         15  hearing to better understand what kind of procedures

         16  and analysis the MTA follows in order to determine

         17  if, in fact, additional service is needed, and then

         18  how long it takes to actually implement that

         19  additional service.

         20                 We're delighted to be joined by

         21  distinguished officials from the Metropolitan

         22  Transportation Authority, and I'd like to ask them

         23  to come up to the witness table. We are joined by

         24  Gerard Ring of the MTA and Larry Gould of the MTA.

         25                 And also, we have been joined by
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          2  Council Member Addabbo of this Committee from

          3  Queens. I apologize for the delay in the start of

          4  this morning's hearing. It is our City Council's day

          5  out against hate, and we had a very productive

          6  breakfast meeting with religious leaders in Brooklyn

          7  earlier, and that ended a little later than we

          8  imagined and then -- you know what? I'm not going to

          9  complain about the traffic.

         10                 So, gentlemen, good morning and

         11  thanks for being here.

         12                 MR. GOULD: Good morning.

         13                 Shall I begin?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         15                 MR. GOULD: Okay.

         16                 Good morning, Chairman Liu. Good

         17  morning, Committee members. My name is Larry Gould.

         18  I am with MTA New York City Transit. My title is

         19  Senior Director, Operations Analysis. And with me is

         20  Gerry Ring, the Executive Director of Management and

         21  Budget for the Long Island Railroad. We're pleased

         22  to be here today, and the topic we're addressing is:

         23  What does the MTA do to addressed increased

         24  ridership during ball games and other special

         25  events? And I will speak primarily for New York City
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          2  Transit.

          3                 Major events are an every day part of

          4  life in New York City. We deal with fairs and

          5  concerts, parades, festivals, rallies, marathons,

          6  walk-a-thons, bike-a-thons and fireworks, and a

          7  large subset of the major events are venue-based

          8  events, such as sports concerts, trade shows,

          9  circus, mass graduations, and many others.

         10                 New York City Transit is in a good

         11  position to serve these events because of our high

         12  existing capacity, that is the high capacity of our

         13  regular daily service.

         14                 However, we can't afford to be

         15  complacent about special events and we do have a

         16  process in place and dedicated staff and what we do

         17  is we monitor upcoming events, meet with the

         18  promoters and organizers and design special service

         19  where needed, and where not needed we design special

         20  customer information for events.

         21                 The planning process for special

         22  events consists of first collecting information. We

         23  need to collect information on the attendance,

         24  obviously, as well as the historic Transit share; in

         25  other words, what is the mode share percentage of
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          2  people going to the event using transit. What the

          3  origins of these people are; in other words, the

          4  place where they begin their trip. We get this data

          5  in part from our own MetroCard database. It is

          6  actually now easy for us to do things like count the

          7  number of people entering a station in six-minute

          8  intervals during this year's Thanksgiving parade and

          9  then project the rate at which people will enter the

         10  station in next year's Thanksgiving Day Parade, down

         11  to six-minute intervals, down to typical kind of

         12  intervals the trains run on.

         13                 The origins, we can also get some of

         14  that, in terms of origin station for MetroCard data.

         15  Although, we often work with promoters, if it's a

         16  ticketed venue event, to get zip code distributions,

         17  which they, in turn, get from Ticket Master from

         18  where their attendees are originating.

         19                 Having all this data on the ridership

         20  going to the event, we then estimate what sort of

         21  loadings we would get on the existing bus and train

         22  system in the area.

         23                 We then design service increases

         24  where needed, in order to maintain appropriate

         25  loading levels. We choreograph station operations,
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          2  in terms of moving people through the right

          3  turnstiles and stairs to get them as close as

          4  possible to the events.

          5                 We work with the promoters in order

          6  to publicize the customer information as to how to

          7  use the system. In other words, for example, if you

          8  buy tickets to a ticketed event on ticket master and

          9  you click for transit directions which is provided

         10  by the promoter, often we provided that information

         11  to the promoter.

         12                 For larger events, we arrange extra

         13  coverage of station personnel and customer

         14  assistance people in stations and even in the street

         15  to assist people.

         16                 In addition to this customer

         17  information that the promoter might provide, we

         18  often do our own customer information. You see this

         19  when you walk into the station, and there are often

         20  five or six colorful event posters up on the wall,

         21  stressing these are the directions to this event.

         22                 Among other things, that serves

         23  people. I mean, for example, yesterday if you had

         24  walked into most of our stations you would have seen

         25  a poster telling you how to get to the Rockefeller
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          2  Center tree lighting. Last week you would have seen

          3  a poster telling people how to get to the

          4  Thanksgiving Day Parade.

          5                 Finally, in this process we usually

          6  have observers out, particularly if it's a new

          7  event, meaning planners, the people who actually did

          8  the planning, myself or my staff, observing the

          9  results, looking for train loading levels, crowding,

         10  confusion, basically whether the message is getting

         11  out and whether we did a good job and then taking

         12  notes for next year or if it's in the case of the

         13  baseball game, it just might be next week.

         14                 One of the more challenging things is

         15  to monitor for new venues, emerging venues in the

         16  City.

         17                 The way we do that, first of all, we

         18  try to get word out among the promoter community

         19  that you really should call New York City Transit if

         20  you're establishing a new venue, or if you'd like to

         21  give us information we need to know about your

         22  venues, and I would say if the word is out among

         23  some of the major promoters, it's not always out

         24  among all the promoters, and, in fact, it often

         25  comes down to things like reading the newspaper and
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          2  watching websites, just to make sure that no new

          3  venue emerges that we don't know about, and if we do

          4  find out about a new venue, we attempt to address it

          5  as quickly as possible, learn what we can about

          6  ridership, which is easier now-a-days, and to see if

          7  anything needs to be done about it.

          8                 I want to give a little background on

          9  the more technical aspects of the process, you know,

         10  because that was more the flow chart for the

         11  process. There are explicit capacities that we're

         12  worried about, particularly surge capacities, and

         13  some events end all at once, like a rock concert

         14  ends after the last encore, or a baseball game that

         15  ends after the last out. If in fact it's a fairly

         16  close game at least, and we get a huge surge of

         17  people, and what we attempt to do is to keep that

         18  surge moving, in other words, down the stairs,

         19  through the turnstiles, onto the platform and onto

         20  the trains or if we're dealing with buses, onto the

         21  buses.

         22                 And in order to do that, we need to

         23  know the magnitude of the surge and we need to

         24  measure the capacity of each of those elements, and

         25  adjust the capacity, if needed.
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          2                 That includes, obviously, adding

          3  train service, adding bus service occasionally,

          4  particularly with buses, creating special service,

          5  in other words, service that might not normally run

          6  in order to make sure that we can serve that surge.

          7                 A footnote to that is that while all

          8  of this is going on, we have regular riders on our

          9  system. I mean, for example, if you have a Mets game

         10  that's breaking at 10:00 at night, in fact, you

         11  know, you may dispatch a train from Willets Point

         12  that has 600 Mets fans on it going home, there are

         13  also 200 of those people who are also every day

         14  commuters who are going to work, perhaps they're

         15  working midnight to eight in the City.

         16                 And we always have to make sure, for

         17  example, and I'll use the Mets again as an example,

         18  that when we dispatch a train from Shea, that it's

         19  not so loaded that when it goes through Corona,

         20  Jackson Heights, Woodside, it can't pick up a few

         21  hundred of those people who would normally ride the

         22  train.

         23                 We also have to coordinate what we do

         24  with our construction program. I think everybody

         25  knows at this point that especially during off-peak
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          2  hours we are constantly adjusting our service to

          3  support our capital program and our track work, and

          4  there are sometimes when the events are so large

          5  that we have to reduce the amount of work we do,

          6  reschedule the work, schedule the work around the

          7  special event. In other words, we can't afford to,

          8  for example, have the ball game break and have the

          9  subway be shut down, you know, at the station right

         10  outside the ball game. That would be unsustainable.

         11                 So, that's sort of the technical kind

         12  of issues we deal with. This has been a big year for

         13  Shea Stadium. We've given a lot of attention to

         14  trying to enhance the service at Shea.

         15                 There are two things behind that,

         16  first of all, the Mets had a very good year in terms

         17  of attendance, and so the amount of extra service

         18  that was needed to support Shea Stadium baseball

         19  games increased substantially this year.

         20                 We had always been running a few

         21  extra trains after the game, now we were running

         22  more, in other words, perhaps as many as eight or

         23  ten instead of four or five after the game. And for

         24  the first time beginning toward the end of the 2006

         25  baseball season and throughout the 2007 baseball
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          2  season, we started running additional service to the

          3  games, and that basically is designed to keep the

          4  loads at the kind of levels that I think people

          5  would expect.

          6                 We don't want to run rush hour crush

          7  loads. I mean, we basically never want to run crush

          8  loads if we can avoid it. So, we're trying to keep

          9  the loads comfortable so that families and friends

         10  can ride together instead of being separated, and

         11  that people, people can move and circulate within

         12  the cars, under these conditions we can't maintain

         13  and all-seated load, but a comfortable standing

         14  load, and sustain the standing for as short a time

         15  as possible.

         16                 In addition to adding service,

         17  beginning, I believe it was July. We sort of

         18  consider it an experiment of running expressed

         19  service after the night games that the Mets play on

         20  weekdays. In other words, we dispatch most of the

         21  extra service now from the center express track at

         22  Willets Point, while still upgrading the local

         23  service, again, as part of the strategy, well, both

         24  to serve Mets customers that want to transfer at

         25  74th Street because they need the local 4, but also
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          2  to continue protecting our regular riders.

          3                 And the express, most people would

          4  say it's a success. I mean, we learned some things,

          5  as to exactly when to start it, relative to the end

          6  of the game and such, but about 70 to 80 percent of

          7  the customers chose the express, and so the odds are

          8  that experiment will continue.

          9                 Another interesting thing we go

         10  through toward the end of August and the beginning

         11  of September is trying to coordinate the Met service

         12  with the US Tennis Open service. When the Mets and

         13  the US Open overlap, we have to schedule additional

         14  service to the event, and we have to have a separate

         15  group of trains standing by after the event for

         16  tennis breaks.

         17                 In particular, tennis crowds

         18  sometimes break very late, sometimes at 1:00 in the

         19  morning. And we've had some history of learning how

         20  to deal with that, and now we keep extra trains

         21  waiting until we get word from USTA that their match

         22  is over and their stadium is clear.

         23                 Some of the other events, I mean, I

         24  was looking at our calendar, we do monitor well over

         25  100 events a year and that's counting the baseball
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          2  as one event. But some of the ones, obviously the

          3  Yankees are getting attention. The Yankees is

          4  actually harder to add service, because that's part

          5  of the Lexington Avenue line and we already are

          6  maxed out during many hours.

          7                 We do add some service, particularly

          8  after the games, for the Yankee games, particularly

          9  in the IND portion, that's the B and D trains.

         10                 Madison Square Garden is an

         11  interesting case because it has a high transit share

         12  but it has so much transit in the area with six

         13  subway lines, and three railroads, that the people

         14  are so dispersed that really what we have to do is

         15  monitor that the regularly scheduled service is

         16  running reliably and put extra people at the

         17  stations. But we haven't found a need there to add

         18  that much service literally. Again, because there is

         19  so much in place, and the people disperse so widely.

         20                 Then we have these issues of when an

         21  event comes up that's nowhere near the subway. Those

         22  are often the most challenging and the most

         23  expensive for us to deal with. The big one is

         24  Randalls Island where the Parks Department allows

         25  promoters to hold, I guess their rock festivals on
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          2  Randalls Island, they go up to 33,000 attendance,

          3  that's practically two Madison Square Gardens with

          4  no subway station. And all they have on Randalls

          5  Island is one bus stop.

          6                 So, we have to add a tremendous

          7  amount of bus service and have elaborately

          8  choreographed a plan of fare collection and crowd

          9  control in order to serve these events. They have a

         10  35 percent mode share for Transit, which is quite

         11  good, considering there is no subway station there.

         12                 Smaller, but just as challenging, is

         13  the Dragon Boat Event in Flushing Meadow Park where

         14  we run a dedicated bus route on a route that does

         15  not normally run, from the Shea Stadium, Willets

         16  Point Station, directly to the site of the event,

         17  about every five minutes, and that's been growing

         18  every year. When we started running that bus we were

         19  running ten minutes, now we're running five minutes,

         20  and I think it was every year we increase the

         21  service a little.

         22                 With regard to the parades, probably

         23  the biggest parade we deal with in terms of transit

         24  impact is the Puerto Rican Day Parade, because even

         25  though probably in numbers West Indian Day is a
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          2  bigger event, Puerto Rican Day generates more

          3  Transit ridership. That's a day we restrict a lot of

          4  construction in most of the system and we add a lot

          5  of scheduled service.

          6                 A more highly visible event

          7  nationwide is New Years Eve, and New Years Eve, it's

          8  very difficult to run effective bus service on New

          9  Years Eve with so many streets closed, but on the

         10  trains what we do on New Years Eve is we maintain

         11  the frequent service that runs during the daytime in

         12  the early evening, until about 3:00 in the morning.

         13  This not only supports Times Square but actually

         14  supports just an elevated level of travel throughout

         15  the City, as well as the public message to everyone

         16  that they should take transit.

         17                 There are also some things that we do

         18  that are not directly linked to events per se, but

         19  we know, for example, that the three weekends prior

         20  to Christmas, this year I believe that would be the

         21  weekend beginning after next and then two more, we

         22  have elevated levels of subway ridership in Midtown

         23  by up to say 30 percent above normal, and so we

         24  restrict construction in Midtown. We actually

         25  restrict construction in parts of the outer boroughs
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          2  as well, but especially in Midtown, and we schedule

          3  additional service on virtually every line passing

          4  through Midtown, in order to support that extra

          5  ridership. Most of that service runs between late

          6  morning and early evening, Saturday and Sunday.

          7                 That's a summary. I think at this

          8  point I'd like to turn this over to Gerry Ring of

          9  Long Island Railroad who would like to speak about

         10  this railroads, re the way they work with special

         11  events.

         12                 MR. RING: Thank you, Larry. Good

         13  morning, Mr. Chairman, Committee members. I welcome

         14  the opportunity to be here today to speak to the

         15  Committee regarding the type of service the railroad

         16  provides for sporting and other special events, but

         17  first let me introduce myself. As Larry indicated,

         18  my name is Gerry Ring, I'm the Executive Director

         19  for Management and Budget at the Long Island

         20  Railroad. The Long Island Railroad recognizes that

         21  sporting events and other special events play a

         22  vital role in the region, the region's economy and

         23  offers an important recreational opportunity for

         24  residents and tourists.

         25                 We see our role is to offer a
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          2  convenient and safe means for attendees to reach

          3  their destination, their game or the event, and in a

          4  manner that eases parking overcrowding and provides

          5  an environmentally friendly alternative to driving.

          6                 Essentially there are four major New

          7  York City venues at the railroad services. That

          8  would be Madison Square Garden, Shea Stadium, the

          9  Tennis Center and the future Nets arena in Brooklyn.

         10                 But we also recognize that events

         11  will occur in other settings, such as parks

         12  throughout the City. Madison Square Garden is the

         13  major location and is connected to our main New York

         14  City terminal, therefore, as a result at the Garden

         15  we were able to provide extensive service.  For all

         16  events at the Garden, we monitor post event loading

         17  conditions. As Larry indicated, generally arrivals

         18  to an event come in over a span of time, but the

         19  surge really occurs very often at the end, at the

         20  close of an event. So, what we do is we monitor a

         21  post event surge, and determine whether or not the

         22  ridership is going to be overwhelming to the

         23  scheduled trains, and whether or not additional

         24  train service would need to be provided.

         25                 Because Penn Station is the central
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          2  operating location for the railroad, we have added

          3  flexibility to add additional service if necessary.

          4                 Another good example of a venue Long

          5  Island Railroad connection, as Larry indicated, is

          6  at Shea Stadium for Met games. In light of the lost

          7  parking during construction of the new stadium, and

          8  the fact that Shea Stadium is conveniently located

          9  near Long Island Railroad Station, the Mets approach

         10  the railroad and transit to discuss service plans,

         11  preparation for increased ridership, and an improved

         12  outreach campaign to advertise the ridership to

         13  customers.

         14                 The Mets draw approximately 3 million

         15  fans a year, so it's an important attraction with

         16  ridership demand that we need to meet.

         17                 In prior years we carried about five

         18  percent of the game attendance on the Long Island

         19  Railroad, but in 2007 we actually doubled that

         20  number to approximately ten percent, with certain

         21  games, the high attendance, Met Yankee-type games,

         22  we actually were able to peak at about 20 percent of

         23  the game attendance riding the Long Island Railroad.

         24  That's a great number.

         25                 During the 2007 season, we have about
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          2  500,000 riders to Met games in the season. As a

          3  result, the railroad expanded service that we

          4  provide to Shea Stadium during the games, night

          5  games we added two additional trains after the game.

          6  On weekends we generally added two trains before the

          7  game and two trains after the game, as well as

          8  stopping regularly scheduled service at the Shea

          9  Stadium Station, and for high attendance games we

         10  actually added four trains before the game and four

         11  trains after the game. This additional service will

         12  continue through 2008.

         13                 Our second large terminal is at

         14  Atlantic Avenue in Brooklyn, which is the site of

         15  the future Nets arena, and which will help us ensure

         16  sufficient service would be provided to the Nets at

         17  their opening, and we will work with the Net

         18  organization to work with that.

         19                 One additional note is that we are

         20  currently engaged in extensive capital improvement

         21  to the Atlantic terminal which will improve the

         22  customer convenience for our customers.

         23                 Again, thank you very much for the

         24  opportunity to speak to you today, and are there any

         25  questions?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          3  We've also been joined by Council Member Daniel

          4  Garodnick of Manhattan.

          5                 It sounds great, what the gentlemen

          6  have presented us with this morning. Now, there is

          7  no written testimony that we can draw from?

          8                 MR. GOULD: No, we had relatively

          9  short notice to prepare this.

         10                 MR. RING: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         12                 So, with regard to it is a great

         13  thing that happened this summer when the MTA

         14  installed the express train service, leaving the

         15  games on weekdays from Shea Stadium. For years

         16  people have been asking for that, and for some

         17  reason the MTA said it was impossible to do. Now,

         18  with, I guess with new blood at the MTA we're able

         19  to get the express train service from Shea Stadium.

         20  And you're still calling it an experiment. But you

         21  said that the experiment will continue.

         22                 MR. GOULD: Likely to continue.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It's likely to

         24  continue?

         25                 MR. GOULD: Yes, it's likely to
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          2  continue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, is there a plan

          4  to continue that next summer, or that's still not

          5  been decided yet?

          6                 MR. GOULD: I would say we haven't

          7  officially decided what we're going to run next

          8  summer, but I'm sure that what we run next summer

          9  will include the express from Shea Stadium. It's

         10  just that we experimented with different balances.

         11                 For example, we were always running a

         12  ratio of one express to one local leaving the game.

         13  We might want to experiment with changing that

         14  balance. Maybe three to two ratio for example.

         15                 There is the issue of --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Given you said that

         17  80 percent of the people leaving the games opt for

         18  the Express train?

         19                 MR. GOULD: Right. It's sort of an

         20  obvious thing that we should look at.

         21                 But on the other hand, when we do

         22  that, we want to dispatch the trains in a way that

         23  the express customers really get the advantage

         24  because if we come up with too complicated a

         25  schedule, you know how the express and local train
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          2  merge at 33 Roston Street (phonetic), we wouldn't

          3  want them to delay each other. So, we need to get

          4  that right.

          5                 Another thing that we need to talk

          6  about is, when you have a game and a lot of

          7  customers leave early, prior to the last out of the

          8  game, how do we handle that with regard to the

          9  express, and that was sort of the assignment for

         10  this winter, is to get all that right and come up

         11  with a good public plan for next baseball season.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And so what's the

         13  process that New York City Transit and perhaps the

         14  Long Island Railroad, what's the process that you go

         15  through to determine if there is going to be

         16  additional service?

         17                 Because, again, people have been

         18  through this, making these requests for a long time,

         19  and this past summer we're very happy to have gotten

         20  it, but what would the procedure or the process be

         21  for you to determine that next summer we'll repeat

         22  the same experiment?

         23                 MR. GOULD: Well, I mean --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is that a Board

         25  decision, or is that like an internal operational
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          2  decision?

          3                 MR. GOULD: You know, I'm primarily a
          4  manager of technical people. I make a technical

          5  recommendation, like with these MetroCard data and

          6  these observations from the field and this train

          7  schedule simulation, we can simulate train schedule

          8  operations on a computer that we think the best, I

          9  think the best balances this, and then I pass that

         10  on to the Executive Management of the Transit

         11  Authority, then they sign off that, yes, this is a

         12  good plan, and then we go public with it, and that's

         13  pretty much how the process works for special

         14  events. For example, it's not as complicated to say

         15  a fare change.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         17                 MR. RING: Similar, very similar

         18  process I think at the Long Island Railroad. The key

         19  is, as Larry indicated, is really trying to

         20  ascertain what the demand is going to be, and like

         21  Larry had mentioned during his remarks, we work with

         22  the promoters to try to get a sense as to what the

         23  overall demand for attendance will be at that event,

         24  based on ticket sales, based on prior year

         25  attendance, if this has happened on an annual basis.
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          2  We will also work with the promoter to try to get

          3  information on where they think their attendees will

          4  be coming from, to determine whether or not they're

          5  going to be riding our system or not.

          6                 Zip code information from ticket

          7  sales is one helpful tool. We don't have the Metro

          8  Card information --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, we have all of

         10  that, thanks very much. And, so, actually it's

         11  interesting, we have Mr. Gould, who you said you're

         12  in charge of kind of the operational technical side

         13  of things?

         14                 MR. GOULD: Yes, to making the

         15  recommendation of what services --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And you make the

         17  recommendation to upper management.

         18                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And then, Mr. Ring,

         20  you're from the management and budget?

         21                 MR. RING: Correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, so, you kind

         23  of keep track of the fiscal implications?

         24                 MR. RING: Correct. Right. That would

         25  be within the organization, our role would be to
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          2  work with Larry's colleague in our railroad to

          3  understand the expectations for demand, the workload

          4  requirements associated with the cost in revenue and

          5  factor that into the decision-making process.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, obviously, the

          7  fiscal implications would have to weigh in as well?

          8                 MR. RING: Correct. Correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And Mr. Gould, so, I

         10  presume that it was your recommendation that New

         11  York City Transit run more subways, and especially

         12  try out the express train service from the Mets ball

         13  games this past summer?

         14                 MR. GOULD: Well, as you said --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You can take credit

         16  for it.

         17                 We want you to take credit. We want

         18  to give you the credit for that.

         19                 MR. GOULD: I'll take credit, but as

         20  you pointed out, we have management who is

         21  supportive of making ambitious changes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. By the way,

         23  is this the first summer that you made that

         24  recommendation?

         25                 MR. GOULD: This is the first time --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON: LIU: Was this past

          3  summer the first time you made that recommendation?

          4                 MR. GOULD: The first time, yes. It's

          5  the first time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You never made the

          7  recommendation for additional trains and express

          8  trains in previous summers?

          9                 MR. GOULD: Mets ridership was

         10  considerably lower in previous summers.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: It didn't spike this

         12  year.

         13                 MR. GOULD: It spiked in the late '06

         14  season. It started early '06 light, and then started

         15  building up in late '06 and '07 was when it first

         16  sustained near sell out --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right, Mr.

         18  Gould, so you're taking credit for getting more

         19  trains out there this past summer, and you're

         20  accepting responsibility for not getting more trains

         21  out there previous years?

         22                 MR. GOULD: Let's say --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You never made a

         24  recommendation before, before this past summer?

         25                 MR. GOULD: Yes, that is correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. And, so, we'll

          3  be looking to you at least for the technical

          4  recommendation. You know, there is going to be a

          5  fiscal side to that decision-making for next

          6  summer's season.

          7                 Are you a Met fan?

          8                 MR. GOULD: I'm a fan of great transit

          9  service.

         10                 But let me say this. We attempt to

         11  maintain certain loading standards, and we would not

         12  be cheap with service to a ball game and leave

         13  people standing on the platform.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, being cheap is

         15  not your decision.

         16                 MR. GOULD: Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right? That's the

         18  other guy's decision.

         19                 MR. GOULD: Yes, but --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I mean, are you

         21  actually considering the fiscal implications?

         22                 You said before you're kind of like

         23  just in charge of the operational technical end.

         24                 MR. GOULD: Well, you see, part of the

         25  operational technical end is hiring additional crews
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          2  and supervision and communications personnel, and

          3  all of that has taken into account the availability

          4  of those personnel.

          5                 We can't hire so many crews to

          6  operate baseball service if we don't have enough

          7  crews to operate tomorrow's rush hour, for example.

          8  So, there are some constraints. But what I'm saying

          9  is, if in absolute dollars, if necessary to meet

         10  loading standards we generally will spend the money.

         11  We're generally not overruled on absolute dollars,

         12  when the ridership numbers are there.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         14                 I mean, I appreciate the theoretical

         15  discussion here, but I think there have been plenty

         16  times in the past, and I dare say this coming

         17  summer, even after we have this discussion when we

         18  go on the platforms after these sporting events, and

         19  the loads that you speak of could be mitigated with

         20  even more additional service.

         21                 I mean, there are many cases where

         22  the trains are not running as close as they could

         23  possibly be safely, and that more trains can

         24  actually be run.

         25                 We've been joined by Council Member
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          2  Miguel Martinez from Manhattan.

          3                 Now, what about the US Open Match? Is

          4  there any analysis done to decide whether additional

          5  service, subway service is needed for the US Open

          6  Matches?

          7                 MR. GOULD: We do. That is we can, you

          8  know, when we get our data from MetroCard, you have

          9  a bank of turnstiles, and people are entering these

         10  turnstiles, some are coming from the US Open, some

         11  might be coming from Shea, if there is a game at the

         12  same time, and then you also have 10- or 20,000

         13  people on a nice summer day who go to Flushing

         14  Meadow Park just because they like to be there. And

         15  as a result, one of the things we have to do is

         16  differentiate from the numbers, which is the peak

         17  for baseball, which is the peak for tennis.

         18                 When it comes to the US Open, we

         19  always have, well I can't go too many years back in

         20  saying this, but certainly this year and the year

         21  before, we had additional service when the last

         22  match of the night, the biggest match of the night

         23  broke. We especially were watching the earlier part

         24  of the US Open because the total attendance of US

         25  Open is hire in its first week and the second week,
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          2  even though the events are a higher profile the

          3  second week, but there's still a lower cap on

          4  attendance.

          5                 We had that. In addition, we always

          6  ran additional service to the Willets Point Station,

          7  and this is before this year, on days when the Mets

          8  and the US Open played together. This year we ran

          9  any time the Mets played, period. So that's subsumed

         10  when the Mets and US Open played together.

         11                 We actually had a more intense

         12  schedule for when they played together. So, for

         13  example, you're talking about maybe a regular

         14  schedule on a Sunday that might be ten trains an

         15  hour or a train every six minutes, going to say 15

         16  trains an hour, a train every four minutes. That's

         17  the kind of increase to the event. After the event

         18  increases, we line up trains outside the station,

         19  and when the crowd break hits, we start dispatching

         20  them.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And what about the

         22  thought to add express service going back to

         23  Manhattan in the evening hours, especially when the

         24  final games break, which could be around midnight?

         25                 MR. GOULD: We certainly could take a
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          2  closer look at it.

          3                 It would worry us a little in that

          4  tennis is a little less predictable than baseball,

          5  particularly if there are two breaks. Some nights

          6  we've seen double breaks in tennis, and the double

          7  breaks, if they're less than let's say 90 minutes

          8  apart, we could not recycle that extra train for the

          9  second break. In other words, the first train, let's

         10  say the breaks were at 11:30 and 12:30, if the

         11  trains that we dispatched for the 11:30 break would

         12  not make it back to main street in time to be turned

         13  to serve the 12:30 break, and we would fear being

         14  caught short for the 12:30 break. But, again, you

         15  know, being that we're learning a lot in working so

         16  hard to improve Met service, I don't want to even

         17  foreclose that as a possibility.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, I don't think

         19  it's rocket science here. You've done it for the

         20  Mets games, why not do it for the tennis games?

         21                 MR. GOULD: The only reason I could

         22  think of that would complicate it is the multiple

         23  breaks.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I don't see how

         25  that's difficult. I mean, you, yourself, said
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          2  earlier that you kind of coordinated with the UST

          3  officials and they let you know when the games

          4  break, and you have additional trains standing by.

          5                 MR. GOULD: Yes. Well, why don't I say

          6  that we'll take a good look at it and get back to

          7  you.

          8                 All I can say is --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Let's just do it

         10  now. Say that you'll want the trains.

         11                 MR. GOULD: I'll say now that you'll

         12  get a response back explicit on the subject.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. But, you

         14  know, this is not the first time that the MTA has

         15  received this kind of request. Maybe the first time

         16  in this formal setting in a public hearing.

         17                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But I'm sure you've

         19  heard it plenty of times in the past. Every single

         20  summer, I happen to represent an area that's right

         21  by the stadium, and the number of complaints that I

         22  get about people being jam packed into the subways

         23  and being left on the platform because no additional

         24  people can squeeze onto the trains, those complaints

         25  come in to me every single year.
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          2                 So, this is not a new phenomenon. So,

          3  I would just encourage you to take a look at the

          4  Mets' experience, especially the so-called

          5  experiment with the express trains.

          6                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That I think has

          8  been very successful, and you deserve a tremendous

          9  amount of credit for doing that.

         10                 MR. GOULD: Mm-hmm.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But it's not that

         12  difficult to make the leap to the US Open Matches.

         13                 MR. GOULD: Okay. Consider that

         14  understood, and we'll get you an explicit answer on

         15  it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You're going to get

         17  us an explicit answer as to whether you'll make the

         18  technical recommendation to upper management and

         19  then we'll --

         20                 MR. GOULD: I will tell you that --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:-- Or give them

         22  credit?

         23                 MR. GOULD: -- Upper management will

         24  see the response.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So they're going to
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          2  rubber stamp your recommendation?

          3                 MR. GOULD: Sometimes they do.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. All right.

          5                 We've been joined by Council Member

          6  Jessica Lappin from Manhattan, as well.

          7                 You know, we want to have a

          8  productive situation. I do have a couple of

          9  questions from my colleagues here, so I want to turn

         10  it over to them. But I just want to talk a little

         11  bit about the next few weeks.

         12                 The MTA has already talked about some

         13  additional service improvements, I presume

         14  improvements for the holiday season. Can you just

         15  quickly go over what those are?

         16                 MR. GOULD: Okay. Well, on our side we

         17  restrict the amount of construction that disrupts

         18  service every weekend. I think people generally know

         19  that on the weekends, most of our lines have some

         20  sort of construction going on. We cut that by about

         21  two-thirds, based on the lines where we know that

         22  there is increased ridership of substantial

         23  magnitude. You know, as I said, some lines go up as

         24  high as 30 percent above normal.

         25                 So, by doing this, it allows us at a
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          2  very minimum to maintain full service instead of the

          3  reduced service associated with construction.

          4                 But in addition, on the five main

          5  lines that pass through Midtown Manhattan, Eighth

          6  Avenue, Seventh Avenue, Sixth Avenue, Lexington

          7  Avenue and Broadway, we have increased service on --

          8  I believe it's seven of the lines have increased

          9  service, order of magnitude, 20 to 30 percent

         10  increase. In other words, so 20 percent increase in

         11  service on from ten trains an hour to 12 trains an

         12  hour, for example, reducing the weight by a minute

         13  or two.

         14                 And our goal is to maintain a loading

         15  standard that is appropriate for the off-peak,

         16  despite the increased ridership. And this additional

         17  ridership, this additional service is on the three

         18  weekends prior to Christmas, and they are Saturday

         19  and Sunday and run from late morning to early

         20  evening.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, that's the

         22  standard. What's late morning? Is that eleven, ten?

         23                 MR. GOULD: 11:30 is when the extra

         24  service kicks in, and 6:30 or 7:00 is when it drops

         25  out. Again, it reflects historical ridership data.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

          3                 MR. GOULD: Obviously we have good

          4  service in the morning, too. If someone wants to go

          5  shopping at 9:30 in the morning --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure.

          7                 MR. GOULD: -- They'll find a train

          8  every eight minutes. If they go home, they'll find a

          9  train every six minutes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That's not up to the

         11  MTA's whim. That really is, you're trying to address

         12  the expected load on the train.

         13                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, it's roughly on

         15  the weekends 11:00, on Saturday morning through

         16  Sunday around 6:00 p.m.

         17                 MR. GOULD: Six or 7:00 p.m., yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Six or 7:00 p.m. And

         19  what exactly is the target load? Or the maximum, the

         20  target maximum load that you don't want to go

         21  beyond?

         22                 MR. GOULD: We're attempting to

         23  average about 125 percent of the seated load.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         25                 MR. GOULD: That is our guideline.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, one out of five

          3  people standing?

          4                 MR. GOULD: Yes, that's typically our

          5  -- and that's actually our normal off-peak loading

          6  guideline.

          7                 Now, we often during construction

          8  don't achieve that, and that's part of the reason we

          9  suspend so much construction.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, yes.

         11                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You talk a little

         13  bit about how you suspend service, but then you

         14  added, earlier in your comments you added the clause

         15  in Manhattan.

         16                 Now, as you know, we've had over the

         17  last few years a tremendous amount of difficulty on,

         18  at least a couple of the lines going out of

         19  Manhattan. In particular, the L Line and the 7 Line.

         20                 MR. GOULD: Mm-hmm.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that there's

         22  been a lot of weekend service and weekend

         23  disruption, even during the holiday season. So, is

         24  that something that's going to be eliminated this

         25  year, the disruptions, the weekend disruptions on
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          2  the lines coming out of Manhattan?

          3                 MR. GOULD: Let me take that in two

          4  parts. On the L and the 7, for example, we restrict

          5  construction enough to restore the full scheduled

          6  service.

          7                 So, let's take, for example, if we

          8  were doing a track panel job, which is very common

          9  on the L over Roosevelt Avenue, for example. The

         10  regular Saturday calls for 15 trains an hour. But

         11  during construction, we're lucky if we can run ten

         12  trains an hour, and that's why you see heavier

         13  loads.

         14                 So we would not allow any

         15  construction that didn't allow us 15 trains an hour,

         16  the full schedule. Same thing would be true on the

         17  L.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the 15 is still

         19  based on the 125 percent load?

         20                 MR. GOULD: Yes. Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes. So that's what

         22  people in Queens and Brooklyn can expect this coming

         23  holiday season?

         24                 MR. GOULD: Yes. I do need to make the

         25  point that that's on average. Meaning that if the
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          2  center cars are more crowded, the end cars are less

          3  crowded or if trains are slightly uneven, perhaps

          4  the train leaving Main Street made connection with

          5  ten buses and the train behind it made connection

          6  with five buses. So, it's all on average. It's sort

          7  of a systemwide loading guideline.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, we'll be

          9  looking for that.

         10                 MR. GOULD: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And we'll average

         12  things out.

         13                 MR. GOULD: Yes, absolutely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         15                 And then my last question has to do

         16  with New Years Eve.

         17                 You stated that there will be a

         18  sustained increased level of service on New Years

         19  Eve?

         20                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Has that been

         22  continued for the past several years unabated?

         23                 MR. GOULD: That pattern has been

         24  there for many years, although we've adjusted it a

         25  little every year.
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          2                 Like, for example, last year we

          3  increased the R in the direction of Forest Hills for

          4  the first time. That was actually a PCAC

          5  recommendation at the time, and in other words, it

          6  hasn't always been every line, we've just taken the

          7  data and looked where the ridership was.

          8                 But in other words, if whatever -- if

          9  anything passing through Midtown on its way to the

         10  outer boroughs, is getting, sort of the kind of

         11  intervals that you would expect in the middle of the

         12  afternoon, five, six, eight instead of 20-minute

         13  intervals that normally run late at night.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. That's what

         15  you had said, you kind of said you continue the rush

         16  hour level?

         17                 MR. GOULD: No, no. I would call it

         18  the midday level. In other words, rush hour level is

         19  a train every two minutes. It's not warranted and

         20  very difficult to sustain. But you have a period of

         21  time --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, you said 5:00

         23  p.m. I mean, that's --

         24                 MR. GOULD: Okay, let me --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Oh, you mean five
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          2  trains?

          3                 MR. GOULD: Okay, let me just be

          4  explicit about what that looks like.

          5                 I'm talking about, the last couple of
          6  times New Years Eve was not a weekday. So, we were

          7  coming out of --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: This year it's going

          9  to be a Monday night, so...

         10                 MR. GOULD: Monday night, so it's

         11  going to be coming out of a weekday schedule. It

         12  won't be the evening rush hour with a train every

         13  two minutes. But the kind of interval you'd expect

         14  to find on a subway let's say at eight or nine at

         15  night, when trains are five, six, eight minutes

         16  apart, instead of that ending at midnight or at 1:00

         17  in the morning, it will run until 3:00 or 3:30 in

         18  the morning. Does that make sense?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, people

         20  this coming New Years Eve can expect to see, what, a

         21  train, maybe six trains an hour?

         22                 MR. GOULD: Yes, maybe six to eight

         23  trains an hour.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Six to eight trains

         25  an hour.
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          2                 MR. GOULD: On most routes until about

          3  3:00 or 3:30 in the morning.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And that would

          5  include trains leaving Manhattan.

          6                 MR. GOULD: That especially includes

          7  trains leaving Manhattan.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Thank

          9  goodness.

         10                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And thank you.

         12                 MR. GOULD: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So maybe that

         14  explains the amount of complaints we've gotten over

         15  the last couple of years when New Years Eve has

         16  fallen on a weekend, right?

         17                 Because you're just kind of saying

         18  they just continue the kind of like the midday

         19  service level for that particular day, whether it

         20  happens to be a Saturday or a Sunday into the New

         21  Years Eve, into the wee hours?

         22                 MR. GOULD: What I was addressing was

         23  when I said 5:00 p.m., I was thinking of what we

         24  would be running at 5:00 p.m. on a Saturday or 5:00

         25  p.m. on a Sunday, not what we would be running at

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  5:00 p.m. on a weekday.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, that's what I

          4  mean.

          5                 You know, we would expect a New Years

          6  Eve crush to be comparable year-to-year no matter

          7  whether New Years Eve falls on a weekend or a

          8  weekday.

          9                 MR. GOULD: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: But if you're saying

         11  that, for example, this year things seemed to be --

         12  the train service will be boosted, mainly because

         13  New Years Eve falls on a Monday, a weekday. But the

         14  last couple of years it's fallen on a weekend.

         15                 MR. GOULD: The service was boosted to

         16  comparable levels, whatever day of the week it falls

         17  on.

         18                 However, that level, if it's coming

         19  out of a weekday is a drop off from the evening rush

         20  hour, whereas if you're coming out of a weekend it's

         21  relatively flat from what's going on during the

         22  daylight hours of that weekend.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

         24                 We want to encourage people to take

         25  mass transit and you're basically saying today that
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          2  they can pretty much expect a train every six to

          3  eight minutes.

          4                 MR. GOULD: Yes, that is correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

          6                 Several years ago, for New Years Eve

          7  there used to be a free entrance into the subway

          8  system. That obviously is to prevent accidents, to

          9  get people to take the trains instead of drive. And

         10  that hasn't been continued lately.

         11                 MR. GOULD: Well, there was only one

         12  year I know which was 1984 when we ran free.

         13                 I've got to say that fare policy is

         14  you would want a different person giving testimony

         15  on fare policy. That's not me. But I do need to --

         16  but I believe we only went free for one year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Just one year?

         18                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: My recollection is

         20  that it was more than that, but do you remember that

         21  one year when they gave everybody free admission

         22  into the train?

         23                 MR. GOULD: Yes, 1984, I believe.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Did you get a lot of

         25  customers?
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          2                 MR. GOULD: We got a lot of vandalism.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So you think that's

          4  a reason why we shouldn't do it then?

          5                 MR. GOULD: Fare policy is not -- I'm

          6  in no position to talk about fare policy.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. But let

          8  me ask you about the ridership level. Did the

          9  ridership level spike when people were granted

         10  unabated access to the subways?

         11                 MR. GOULD: In 1984 we were still

         12  dealing with tokens and basically the turnstiles did

         13  not register by time -- when we got the count for

         14  New Years Eve, it was a 24-hour count that didn't

         15  allow us to break out New Years Eve.

         16                 We were in a sense flying blind at

         17  that point on our service levels, and so I --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: C'mon, if there was

         19  a spike you would be able to detect that without
         20  computers, without machines.

         21                 I mean, their workers would be

         22  reporting, oh my goodness, we've got a crush of

         23  people coming.

         24                 That, perhaps, may have been, may

         25  have resulted in damage to the system because of the
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          2  large number of people coming in.

          3                 But, again, do you get the sense that

          4  people will be taking the subways for free joy rides

          5  on New Years Eve, or would they actually be trying

          6  to get from one place to another?

          7                 Because if it's the former, we want

          8  to discourage. But if it's the latter where people

          9  are actually getting to the subways to get from one

         10  place to another, you know, we want to be able to

         11  accommodate it and encourage that.

         12                 MR. GOULD: You know, I think in order

         13  to address that you would need to do that

         14  combination of policy level people and police in

         15  order to address that.

         16                 I believe that people are suspicious

         17  of this issue that completely free access might

         18  cause them to lose control and cause disorder and

         19  vandalism. I mean, I have heard that discussion.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, in other

         21  words, bad people are not willing to pay two bucks

         22  to get into the system. Or is it because there are

         23  going to be that many more people that it becomes

         24  uncontrollable?

         25                 MR. GOULD: You use the phrase
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          2  "joyriding." I think that reflects what the police

          3  position was.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That they think that

          5  people take the subways for joyrides, on New Years

          6  Eve?

          7                 MR. GOULD: You realize that I'm

          8  trying to recall meetings that happened 23 years

          9  ago. This is a very -- and it's not a position -- I

         10  mean, my job would be, if the policy makers and

         11  police decided to go free, my job would be to make

         12  sure there was enough service.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. So, then,

         14  you're saying that the primary decision-maker here

         15  for deciding whether people should be able to take

         16  the subways for free on New Years Eve will be the

         17  Police Department and not the Transit Authority?

         18                 MR. GOULD: No, police and transit

         19  policy makers. I mentioned them together.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         21                 MR. GOULD: I believe that the police

         22  would probably advise transit policy makers, because

         23  the police have an important stake in this. The

         24  police are very involved in every subway entrance on

         25  New Years Even. They are metering access and
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          2  expediting access.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And we definitely

          4  depend on the police to do that. But that just seems

          5  to be different from the question of whether people

          6  should be given a free ride on New Years Eve. A free

          7  ride, not for the sake of giving them a gift on New

          8  Years Eve, but to get people out of their cars, not

          9  even for congestion reasons, but for safety reasons.

         10  Because there is a certain human habit that people

         11  undergo on New Years Eve. So, we want people to take

         12  the subways. But that just seems to be a separate

         13  issue apart from the police presence in the subways.

         14                 So, well, I mean is there even any

         15  thought of considering free entry into the subways

         16  or that's not on the table?

         17                 MR. GOULD: I would say that there has

         18  been no discussion of that nature at any level that

         19  I'm at the table for this year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. Well, I

         21  would actually ask you to go back to the

         22  Metropolitan Transportation Authority and take it

         23  under serious advisement. It's a good idea. It's

         24  actually something that's done in other metropolitan

         25  areas. There is no reason why -- you know, New York
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          2  City is probably the absolute most visible place on

          3  the whole planet when it comes to New Years Eve

          4  celebrations. Why not give people a free ride just

          5  on New Years Eve? And it's not as a gift but as a

          6  matter of public policy with regard to safety.

          7                 MR. GOULD: Okay, we'll take that back

          8  and we will respond.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right. Looking

         10  forward to it.

         11                 All right, we've been joined by

         12  Council Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, and

         13  questions from Council Member Garodnick.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman. Gentlemen, welcome.

         16                 Let me just start off by introducing

         17  myself. I represent the fourth Council district

         18  which runs from 14th to 97th Street and includes

         19  much of the 50s in Manhattan, both east and west.

         20  And I know that today's hearing is focused on

         21  special events, but I wanted to sort of focus you

         22  all just a little more on the issue of treating the

         23  holiday season as a special event, and the Chairman

         24  took you through a couple of questions on that

         25  subject before, and I also heard your testimony
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          2  about some of the changes that are made during the

          3  season, but obviously, you know, tis the season for

          4  holiday shopping, for additional visitors who we

          5  welcome to New York. It also tis the season for

          6  Lexington Avenue line, which is way overburdened

          7  every day of the week.

          8                 And what I wanted to understand from

          9  you was the level of success that you have had on

         10  your changes that you have made during the holiday

         11  season.

         12                 You mentioned that during the

         13  three-week period before Christmas there is an

         14  increase in service, and a decrease in construction.

         15                 The first question I wanted to ask

         16  you was why do you limit it to the three weekends

         17  before. We're about to come up to the fourth weekend

         18  before Christmas, this one, which is December 1st;

         19  is there a material difference between the number of

         20  riders that you see on December 1st as opposed to

         21  December 8th on a given year?

         22                 MR. GOULD: There is a material

         23  difference. Some weekends there are three weekends

         24  between Thanksgiving weekend and Christmas weekend,

         25  some years there are four.

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 We have now had MetroCard long enough

          3  to have a significant sample of these, like this

          4  year with four, and we really do see that the three

          5  weekends prior to Christmas are heavier than that

          6  fourth, as well a heavier than Thanksgiving weekend

          7  itself.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: How much

          9  heavier?

         10                 MR. GOULD: I would say that if the

         11  lines that go through Midtown that go through your

         12  district let's say are up as high as 30 percent

         13  above normal on those other Saturdays and Sundays,

         14  that this weekend that's just coming up a day or two

         15  from now is maybe only up ten percent or so.

         16                 We use the threshold of about, when a

         17  line starts getting 20 or 25 percent above normal,

         18  then it's going to materially affect loading and we

         19  do something statistically significant to fix it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, if the

         21  expectation is that this weekend would see a ten

         22  percent over normal ridership, what steps do you

         23  take to address that?

         24                 MR. GOULD: Well, in particular,

         25  you'll probably see a slight reduction in
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          2  construction level for this weekend. Not a huge

          3  reduction. But those places that we know are -- one

          4  thing that is extremely obvious with these things is

          5  that you don't do a bus substitution in the busy

          6  part of Manhattan on a day when you think the

          7  ridership might be up, because it's so much more

          8  difficult to deal with the capacity of buses than

          9  with the capacity of trains, and there is no

         10  forgiving in the overload of bus. So, I would say we

         11  do a slight reduction in the amount of construction

         12  and thus, by extension, protect service somewhat

         13  more.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: But you

         15  don't do any increase in service for that additional

         16  weekend.

         17                 MR. GOULD: No increase in scheduled

         18  service for that amount.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay.

         20                 MR. GOULD: And we will continue to

         21  watch this in future years.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I hope you

         23  will. Because as somebody who frequently rides the

         24  Lexington Avenue line, as you might imagine, and

         25  also during the holiday season as well, it's clear
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          2  that even on a weekend like this one, and I'm

          3  anticipating it without the specific MetroCard data

          4  from last year, but you know, I know that in this

          5  period, maybe not Thanksgiving weekend itself, but

          6  all of those weekends, whether it is three or four,

          7  the Lexington Avenue line is burdened well beyond

          8  where it should be burdened, and I wanted to talk to

          9  you about that additional service for a second.

         10                 You said that there is an additional

         11  20 to 30 percent, which would mean moving from ten

         12  to 12 trains an hour with a goal of 125 percent of

         13  the seated capacity; did I get that right for those

         14  three weekends?

         15                 MR. GOULD: On average.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: On average.

         17                 MR. GOULD: On average, yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Now, my

         19  impression is that those trains are full beyond any

         20  ability to move or breathe in them during these

         21  weekends of the year. Is that 125 percent goal on

         22  average being achieved? Or is that just a goal?

         23                 MR. GOULD: I would say we try, just

         24  as we do with all of our off-peak schedules, we

         25  schedule to achieve it.
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          2                 I was mentioning to the Chairman

          3  before, though, sometimes customers don't experience

          4  it because it is on average.

          5                 So, for example, if you want to board

          6  a Number 6 train on Saturday afternoon, if you board

          7  the middle four cars, you're going to see a higher

          8  load factor than that at some locations.

          9                 If you board the last two cars, you

         10  might very well get a seat, even if you're at the

         11  most crowded part of the line.

         12                 It is something that happens on

         13  weekends that does not happen so much in rush hour,

         14  that the individual cars of the train have radically

         15  different loads. And I think part of that is a

         16  function of more unfamiliar riders that don't know,

         17  I've got to go to the second car to get a seat at

         18  this station, and it's also a function that some of

         19  our auxiliary entrances that tend to feed the

         20  platform extremities are not open on the weekend.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: They're

         22  closed.

         23                 MR. GOULD: And then you also get the

         24  phenomenon of averaging that just a minor variation,

         25  if you have trains running five minutes apart and
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          2  then you have trains six minutes apart, followed by

          3  a train that's four minutes apart, the train that

          4  has six minutes in front of it is going to have 20

          5  percent more people and the train behind it is going

          6  to have 20 percent fewer people.

          7                 You know, there is no way to get it

          8  absolutely perfect, but we're trying on average to

          9  deliver a reasonable experience here.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: But do you

         11  know that that is what the average ends up being at

         12  the end of the day? I mean, I know that that's the

         13  goal and I know that there are disparities and

         14  differences from train-to-train or car-to-car, but

         15  is there any way of knowing that that 125 percent of

         16  the seat capacity, seated capacity is actually being

         17  achieved?

         18                 MR. GOULD: We can survey with people

         19  surveying on the platforms as trains go by, and we

         20  can use our MetroCard data to approximate loads.

         21                 It also helps from public or elected

         22  officials, if we get comments of unacceptable loads

         23  at certain times and places, directions, we can

         24  investigate them and then send people out to observe

         25  them the next time that time of day occurs.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. Well,

          3  let me be the first elected official to tell you

          4  about unacceptable loads on the Lexington Avenue

          5  line on the weekends between Thanksgiving and

          6  Christmas.

          7                 I think beyond what you anticipate in

          8  the ten to 12 trains per hour, I do think that

          9  people are really struggling, tourists and residents

         10  alike, and I think that there may be ways to deal

         11  with that, whether it's increasing the additional

         12  service, whether it's opening the auxiliary

         13  entrances, whether there's having people on the

         14  platforms to move people who may be less familiar

         15  with our train system, to the cars at either end of

         16  the train.

         17                 I think there may be ways to deal

         18  with that, but I certainly would like to make sure

         19  that you understand from my perspective that it is

         20  an unacceptable level, because of the massive number

         21  of people who are using our subways during that

         22  period. We appreciate that you're taking additional

         23  steps, but I do think that we really need to still

         24  do better.

         25                 MR. GOULD: It's understood.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          4  Member Garodnick.

          5                 Council Member Addabbo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chair, and I'll thank your staff and this

          8  Committee for putting this hearing together.

          9                 To Mr. Gould and Mr. Ring, thank you

         10  very much for your time and your testimony today and

         11  the information you have for us.

         12                 Touched upon earlier in the

         13  conversation you had with Chairman Liu with regards

         14  to New Years Eve, you mentioned the Police

         15  Department.

         16                 With these other special events that

         17  you plan increased service, and, again, the focus

         18  here today is, of course, on ridership and the

         19  increased service for that ridership, I'm also

         20  concerned about what security measures do you take

         21  with these other events that there is going to be an

         22  increased amount of people in a certain area and

         23  moving these people, as you mentioned earlier, Mr.

         24  Gould. What are your conversations with the NYPD or

         25  other law enforcement agencies with regard to
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          2  security?

          3                 MR. GOULD: Well, firstly, we take the

          4  queues from them as to how to do security. A service

          5  planning manager, which is basically what I am, my

          6  job is to provide good service. The police, we meet

          7  with the police for just about every major event.

          8  They invite us to their meetings, their big formal

          9  meetings at One Police Plaza. The Transit Bureau has

         10  a dedicated liaison to us, if we identify an issue

         11  that we think police should address, directly

         12  security related or crowd control related, we will

         13  tell them and they will give us the queue of how to

         14  run it. If they make a recommendation of how to

         15  change the way we're running service or loading, to

         16  make their job easier, we will generally do it. If

         17  it hurts customer service, we will negotiate

         18  backwards and forwards until we come up with

         19  something that both service customers and service

         20  their needs.

         21                 I would say that for the big events,

         22  and even the medium-sized events, we are always

         23  talking to the police and always taking the lead

         24  from them as to how to address that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And you would
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          2  say at this point the working cooperation that you

          3  have with the NYPD is good?

          4                 MR. GOULD: It is good, particularly

          5  because they give us a dedicated liaison in the

          6  Transit Bureau, a lieutenant, who we know that can

          7  assemble the right captains and whether it be

          8  precinct people, district people, or headquarters

          9  people in order to address whatever comes up.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: No need to

         11  find other ways to improve this working relationship

         12  at this point?

         13                 MR. GOULD: Well, as I say, we have a

         14  good system. I think when it comes to issues of

         15  security and crowd control, that, you know, we

         16  should always be open minded. But as I say, I think

         17  we're in pretty good shape right now.

         18                 If we identified an issue, we would

         19  know where to go and they would solve it for us.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: When you have

         21  these special events and make certain accommodations

         22  for moving ridership, what kind of surveys, if any,

         23  do you take from the ridership as far as how to

         24  improve the service?

         25                 I know the MTA is in the practice of
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          2  taking surveys from ridership ordinarily, during

          3  these special events, or, again, when you make

          4  special service arrangements, do you take any

          5  surveys from those riders?

          6                 MR. GOULD: Well, firstly, as you know

          7  that we're doing these rider report cards right now,

          8  and you know, the special event ridership is a

          9  substantial subset of the total ridership. In fact,

         10  the same customer who rides every day to go to work

         11  is also a special event rider, or may also be a

         12  special event rider.

         13                 So, I would say it's probably

         14  captured in the rider report cards.

         15                 I don't have too much specific market

         16  research on the special event service other than

         17  what we get from the rider report cards, but, you

         18  know, in us evaluating the service, there are some

         19  things that seem intuitive, such as maintaining a

         20  free flow during the surge is better than queuing

         21  people during the surge, providing comfortable

         22  loading is better than overloading, you know,

         23  providing smooth merges, no merging delays is

         24  better.

         25                 So, some of it, the kind of things we
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          2  learn from market research on every day service we

          3  can apply to special events.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And at these

          5  special events, I'm sure you evaluate how the event

          6  went and how the service went and make changes

          7  accordingly at that point?

          8                 MR. GOULD: Absolutely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Lastly, not

         10  that it's a special event, but I represent the

         11  Rockaway, part of the Rockaway Beaches and every

         12  summer we have an increased amount of visitation,

         13  thankfully so, to our area.

         14                 The A Train service, is there any

         15  accommodations made to the increased amount of

         16  visitation down to our beaches during the summer

         17  months?

         18                 MR. GOULD: Well, there is one big

         19  accommodation, which is if you notice during the

         20  fall and spring and some parts of the winter, we do

         21  shut down a lot on the weekends with substitute bus

         22  service.

         23                 It's a high maintenance part of the

         24  line because it's ballasted (phonetic) and so

         25  exposed, and we also have a lot of capital
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          2  investments going on. In all of the years I've been

          3  doing this, and that's well over 20 years, I don't

          4  think we've ever shut down with a bus substitution

          5  between Memorial Day and Labor Day. That is quite an

          6  accommodation when you think that -- when you

          7  remember that we have people under contract and

          8  people on staff to do this work. And, so, we have to

          9  relocate them to other parts of the system.

         10                 So, I would say that three months out

         11  of the year roughly protecting from these major

         12  disruptions is the main accommodation we make out

         13  there.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And again

         15  it's appreciated, no question about it, to keep

         16  obviously the visitors coming.

         17                 But, again, just in answer to the

         18  question, there is no increased amount of service to

         19  the A Train during the summer months? Just that

         20  there is uninterrupted services, basically the

         21  accommodation?

         22                 MR. GOULD: That is basically correct.

         23  The A Train service is the regularly scheduled

         24  service. So, given that customers may perceive it as

         25  an improvement because there is no construction
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          2  going on. But, yes, it's basically the regular

          3  service.

          4                 We also monitor loads down there and

          5  try to maintain the same sort of loads, which is

          6  especially important, given all of the equipment

          7  that beach-goers take on board the trains.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: True.

          9                 And we appreciate you monitoring it,

         10  again, on that basis, so thank you very much for

         11  your efforts.

         12                 And thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         14  Member Addabbo.

         15                 And questions from Council Member

         16  Lappin.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 I wanted to just state for the

         20  record, because there has been discussion about the

         21  holiday season, I think it's fantastic that so many

         22  people come to New York to enjoy our City this time

         23  of year and hopefully spend a lot of money.

         24                 I don't think that we should give

         25  discount fares to tourists when we're facing
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          2  deficits and fare increases because what happens

          3  then is that the riders who use the system each and

          4  every day are the ones who have to make up the

          5  difference. So, that's my personal view, since we've

          6  had a discussion about that today.

          7                 But I wanted to ask about the 4th of

          8  July fireworks on Roosevelt Island. It has

          9  traditionally been a huge problem because thousands

         10  of people come to the Island to watch the fireworks

         11  on the 4th and to get them off, I mean it's been

         12  dangerous and scary and a bit of a disaster.

         13                 This year the MTA for the first time

         14  added service on that line to the Island. I wanted

         15  to say thank you. And I hope that that will

         16  continue, and I am assuming that was successful,

         17  that's certainly what I've heard in my reports.

         18                 Are you planning to continue to do

         19  this?

         20                 MR. GOULD: The added service was

         21  successful. We do plan to continue it. I'll add to

         22  that that we hope we learn a little bit more about

         23  this event in recent years. Our perception of this

         24  event is that it started out as a small

         25  community-based event that was never publicized, it
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          2  was something like ten years ago. And that it's only

          3  been publicized from the general public for two or

          4  three years, and the crowd has grown substantially.

          5  And that's why -- we add service during the roughly

          6  90-minute period after the fireworks on 4th of July

          7  every single year and have for over 20 years, but

          8  the added F service for Roosevelt Island in

          9  particular just kicked in this year.

         10                 We also want to work on street level

         11  operations there to make the flow in and out of the

         12  small station house orderly and expeditious, and, of

         13  course, it will keep the escalators running.

         14                 I think now we're doing a good job at

         15  platform level and we want to continue doing a good

         16  job also at station level.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Well I think

         18  we're replacing all of the escalators at the station

         19  as we speak, so, great.

         20                 MR. GOULD: Mm-hmm.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you.

         22                 MR. GOULD: Sure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

         24  Member Lappin.

         25                 Actually, Council Member Lappin asked
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          2  a question that I guess I could probably ask you for

          3  a little bit of information on now, since you're the

          4  expert on the operations there at New York City

          5  Transit.

          6                 And I agree with Council Member

          7  Lappin's position that it's kind of like a less

          8  efficient use of scarce resources for the MTA to

          9  give holiday discounts.

         10                 About two years ago when the holiday

         11  discounts were offered, I believe that was two years

         12  ago, that was not last year.

         13                 MR. GOULD: Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. Two years

         15  ago. What was the change in ridership based on those

         16  discounts? Was there a spike in ridership? Or did

         17  the ridership stay relatively flat?

         18                 MR. GOULD: The ridership increase was

         19  modest. There was not a spike. That's the actual

         20  order of magnitude I'd rather not address from

         21  memory, but we can get back to you on it. But the

         22  general order of magnitude was modest, not dramatic.

         23                 Remember, we already have a fairly

         24  dramatic increase on those three weekends --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, right. You're
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          2  talking about increases from previous years. Not

          3  from previous weekends.

          4                 MR. GOULD: Right. Yes, but purely

          5  trying to isolate the effect of the fare incentive,

          6  I believe it was modest, and we'd like to get back

          7  to you with more, because that's about the limits of

          8  what I remember.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Actually, no, you

         10  don't need to get back to us on that particular

         11  question.

         12                 MR. GOULD: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: The other stuff that

         14  you promised earlier we'll be waiting for.

         15                 MR. GOULD: Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You talked a little

         17  bit about the peak, the off-peak loads. The target

         18  maximum load is 125 percent.

         19                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: 125 percent of

         21  seating capacity, that's the way you say it?

         22                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, is there a

         24  target maximum load for rush hour periods, for peak

         25  periods?
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          2                 MR. GOULD: Yes, there is. There is a

          3  guideline load. It varies by the type of car. We

          4  have two different lengths of cars than the A

          5  Division, B Division, and I actually don't have

          6  those in my memory to give you. Again, that's a

          7  possible get back to you issue.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, we're not

          9  asking for the exact percentage. But, I mean, you've

         10  got to know the ball park.

         11                 MR. GOULD: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is it 200 percent of

         13  seating capacity? Is it 150 percent? To like the

         14  nearest 50 percent.

         15                 MR. GOULD: It's like a little --

         16  let's say, for example, for a 75 foot B Division

         17  car, the kind that would run on the F Train or the R

         18  Train, it's a little over 200 percent.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         20                 And what about the A class, or A

         21  Division?

         22                 MR. GOULD: It's between 200 and 250

         23  percent.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right. So, it's not

         25  really that different. It's not exactly the same,
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          2  but --

          3                 MR. GOULD: Okay. I'll accept that.

          4  It's higher. I believe --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So, maybe one to one

          6  and a half people standing for every person seated?

          7                 MR. GOULD: No, it's more.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Two-hundred percent

          9  seating capacity --

         10                 MR. GOULD: -- When I say 200 percent

         11  it means two people standing for every one person

         12  seated. That's what 200 percent is.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Really?

         14                 MR. GOULD: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Then 125

         16  percent is not one in five standing. That would be

         17  five in nine standing.

         18                 MR. GOULD: I should probably do some

         19  math. Okay, if you're dealing with 50 seats in a

         20  car, 125 percent is 62 people.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.

         22                 MR. GOULD: Okay?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: All right.

         24                 MR. GOULD: If you're dealing with 50

         25  seats in a car, 200 percent is 100 people.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, it's one

          3  person standing for every person sitting.

          4                 MR. GOULD: Okay. So, yes, I believe

          5  your math is correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm not trying to

          7  quiz you on the math here.

          8                 MR. GOULD: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Is there a guideline

         10  as to what is a safe load for a subway car?

         11                 Because, you know, as you can

         12  imagine, on rush hours, on the 7 Train, on the

         13  Lexington Line, I mean, it's far more than one or

         14  even two people per person standing for one sitting.

         15                 MR. GOULD: Which is -- I mean, less

         16  while Second Avenue is being built, that we can't

         17  maintain these, that Lexington Avenue is not

         18  achieving this in the peak of rush hour.

         19                 The standard comes down to three

         20  square feet per standing customer to maintain

         21  internal circulation. That is the --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, that's so

         23  people can move around. Circulation of people, not

         24  air, right?

         25                 MR. GOULD: Yes. These are basically
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          2  internal circulation in order to basically allow

          3  people to get on and off when they get to their

          4  station.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Right.

          6                 MR. GOULD: And that has always been

          7  the main criteria for rush hour loading, has been

          8  maintaining that circulation?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the safety

         10  standards is really like the amount of space per

         11  person?

         12                 MR. GOULD: You know, I'm not calling

         13  it a safety standard, particularly because it

         14  started out as a circulation standard. And it's

         15  also, again, not exactly my area of expertise, so I

         16  don't want to get too into that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And then the last

         18  question from me, I don't think anybody else has any

         19  questions, would be that, you know, a few months ago

         20  there was some documentation in the media of certain

         21  emergency exits at Yankee Stadium being locked

         22  during ball games, and some people may have said it

         23  may be because they're trying to prevent fare

         24  beating, maybe it was a way to channel the crowds. I

         25  don't know what it is. Is that something that you're
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          2  familiar with?

          3                 MR. GOULD: I'm not familiar with it

          4  at all? Again, we'll have to put that on the list

          5  and get back to you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, that will just

          7  be part of our due diligence to respond to some

          8  concerns that emergency exits were locked at Yankee

          9  Stadium during games, when there was a crush of the

         10  crowding.

         11                 MR. GOULD: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. Well,

         13  gentlemen, thank you very much for joining us. And

         14  you know, I think you've done a great job over this

         15  past year at least with addressing some of the new

         16  demand, and we hope to see more of it, because there

         17  clearly is new demand that perhaps did not exist in

         18  previous years.

         19                 All right, thank you very much.

         20                 Next we will hear from William Guld

         21  (sic) of the Permanent Citizens Advisory Committee,

         22  PCAC. And then Mr. Guld will be -- I guess it's Mr.

         23  Guild?

         24                 MR. GUILD: Guild, right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I'm sorry. Mr. Guild
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          2  will be followed by officials from the United States

          3  Tennis Association.

          4                 Mr. Guild, thank you for joining us.

          5                 MR. GUILD: Good morning.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Mr. Guild, could you

          7  press the microphone button.

          8                 MR. GUILD: Oh. Can you hear me now?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         10                 MR. GUILD: My name is William Guild.

         11  I am Chair of the Permanent Citizens Advisory

         12  Committee to the Metropolitan Transportation

         13  Authority.

         14                 The PCAC is the coordinating body for

         15  three riders councils created by the New York State

         16  Legislature in 1981. The Long Island Railroad

         17  Commuters Council, the Metro North Railroad Commuter

         18  Council, and the New York City Transit Riders

         19  Council of which I am a member, by the way.

         20                 As a representative of MTA Riders,

         21  the PCAC applauds efforts to increase the use of

         22  public transportation to provide access to

         23  professional sports events and other major public

         24  events.

         25                 Public transportation is the most
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          2  efficient, effective and convenient means of moving

          3  large numbers of spectators to and from stadiums and

          4  arenas.

          5                 Transit should be reviewed as the

          6  preferred alternative to the cost and traffic

          7  congestion associated with driving to games or

          8  special events.

          9                 The attractiveness of transit to fans

         10  can be illustrated by the City's experience with

         11  Mets games at Shea Stadium. In 2006, an average of

         12  6,700 riders took the 7 Train to regular season

         13  games, up almost one-quarter from ridership of 5,400

         14  in 2005.

         15                 During the 2006 playoffs, an average

         16  of 13,300 fans took the train accounting for 25

         17  percent of all fans at the games.

         18                 Promoting increased use of public

         19  transportation to sporting and special events will

         20  help to build new markets for public transit

         21  agencies and attract new riders.

         22                 These events often begin or end in

         23  non-peak hours for transit systems and increase

         24  their utilization. Promoting public transportation

         25  use brings into the system persons who are not
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          2  typically transit customers. If their experience is

          3  favorable, they will be encouraged to use the system

          4  again or more frequently.

          5                 Increased use of public

          6  transportation also serves to reduce the negative

          7  impacts of large scale events. Traffic congestion

          8  and pollution are reduced, along with the City's

          9  cost for accommodating additional automobile

         10  traffic.

         11                 These costs can be quite substantial

         12  as anyone who has followed the efforts to build

         13  parking in conjunction with the new Yankee Stadium

         14  will understand.

         15                 Using Transit to reduce needed

         16  parking makes sense both from planning and financial

         17  perspectives. We, in New York, are in a strong

         18  position to take advantage of public transportation

         19  in providing access to major sporting and public

         20  events.

         21                 Madison Square Garden is built over
         22  the largest rail transportation hub in the nation,

         23  and is served by the Long Island Railroad, New

         24  Jersey Transit and New York City Transit subways,

         25  with PATH rail lines only a short walk away.
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          2                 Brooklyn's Barclay Center will be

          3  built over that borough's major transit hub served

          4  by the Long Island Railroad and New York City

          5  Transit.

          6                 The present and future Yankee

          7  Stadiums are served by two New York City Transit

          8  subway lines, and in 2009, the new Yankee Stadium

          9  will be accessible to MetroNorth Railroad customers

         10  through a new station.

         11                 Shea Stadium and its replacement

         12  Citifield are conveniently accessible by both New

         13  York City Transit and the Long Island Railroad and

         14  efforts are underway to improve Long Island Railroad

         15  access to the site.

         16                 Each of these locations and services

         17  is unique and deserves its own service plan. There

         18  is no one size fits all strategy for serving these

         19  venues.

         20                 Some members of the PCAC have

         21  expressed concerns regarding access to the new

         22  Yankee Stadium, which is to be built north of the

         23  existing ball park and north of 161st Street. While

         24  we are pleased that the stadium is finally to have

         25  its own MetroNorth Station, it will be located south
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          2  of the existing ball park and significantly further

          3  away from the new facility.

          4                 We are also concerned about

          5  maintaining convenient access to the number 5 subway

          6  line --

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: That should be

          8  4.

          9                 MR. GUILD: Which? Oh, I'm sorry.

         10  You're quite right. Thank you.

         11                 The number 4 subway line, which runs

         12  on an elevated structure just beyond the bleachers.

         13  When the original stadium opened in 1923, and it was

         14  just the Woodlawn Jerome Line, the 161st Station had

         15  been in operation for over five years. To handle

         16  thousands of subway riders attending games, the

         17  platforms were extended to the south and an

         18  extensive system of auxiliary stairs and fare

         19  control areas was constructed right outside the

         20  stadium.

         21                 These facilities are open only for

         22  baseball games or other events, at which time trains

         23  stop several car lengths south of their normal

         24  positions.

         25                 Since these special facilities point
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          2  south to serve the existing stadium, we believe that
          3  an improved structure must be planned and built at

          4  the north end of the 161st Street Station, so that

          5  subway riders will have at least as convenient

          6  access to the new Yankee Stadium as they have

          7  enjoyed since 1923.

          8                 We are aware of no plans for such an

          9  improvement however, and urge the Transportation

         10  Committee to look into this apparent oversight.

         11                 We have several more general

         12  observations about Transit service for special

         13  events. Of course, the MTA agencies must provide

         14  sufficiently frequent service to meet customer

         15  demands if they are to succeed in attracting sports

         16  fans and those attending other large special events.

         17                 If passengers are unable to board

         18  trains because of crowding, or if they are left

         19  waiting on the platform for long periods of time,

         20  they will begin to think about other means of

         21  travel. Thus, it is important to provide frequent

         22  and convenient service.

         23                 Since the time of peak travel to many

         24  sporting events coincides with a portion of the

         25  weekday afternoon period for the region's public
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          2  transportation system, it may not be feasible in

          3  some cases to add more trains where lines are at or

          4  near maximum under current operating rules.
          5                 Fortunately, spectators intend to

          6  arrive at sporting events over a fairly long time

          7  frame. While trains may be crowded around game time,

          8  peak-hour traffic affects motorists even more

          9  severely.

         10                 Addition of transit service in the

         11  shoulder of the peak period, which would not require

         12  additional equipment or changes to operating rules,

         13  may spread travel demand more broadly over time.

         14                 Since sporting and other public

         15  events generally do not end during peak travel

         16  periods, the MTA agencies have greater flexibility

         17  to provide frequent and convenient service. The

         18  getaway service at the end of Mets and Yankee

         19  baseball games where equipment is positioned to

         20  provide a steady flow of trains is an example of how
         21  this service can be provided effectively.

         22                 The physical environment of stations

         23  and their surrounding areas is also important. New

         24  York City Transit found that the location of its

         25  turnstiles at Shea Stadium was impeding travel at
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          2  the ends of games and so these turnstiles were moved

          3  from the stadium plaza to the station.

          4                 The City can have a great influence

          5  here as it owns or impacts through design review and

          6  permitting processes, many of the physical

          7  facilities required for movement of passengers to

          8  their trains.

          9                 Finally, our efforts must go beyond

         10  merely providing public transportation to large

         11  scale public events. Meaningful action must be taken

         12  to promote the use of public transportation as a

         13  viable, indeed the preferred option for those

         14  attending such events.

         15                 At Shea Stadium last season, when

         16  there was a reduction in available parking,

         17  substantial advertising campaigns drew spectators to

         18  public transportation. Such campaigns can be quite

         19  successful as seen in the growth in transit use for

         20  access to Mets games and the US Open Tennis

         21  Tournament last summer.

         22                 Public transportation should not be

         23  viewed as a last resort when parking is unavailable.

         24  It should be recognized as the preferred option.

         25  This is especially important with facilities such as
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          2  the Barclay Center being constructed over the

          3  Atlantic Yards in Brooklyn, and Madison Square

          4  Garden.

          5                 While the MTA has an important role

          6  to play, we need cooperative efforts involving the

          7  management of the teams and the facilities as well

          8  as the City.

          9                 Encouraging Transit use for ball

         10  games and special events should be part of the

         11  City's standard operating procedures and traffic

         12  management plans developed for these events and

         13  venues.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         16  Mr. Guild. We always appreciate the important input

         17  of the PCAC. Thanks to you and to Bill Henderson

         18  whose presence we recognize.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 At this point I would like to invite

         21  the officials from the United States Tenants

         22  Association and the National Tennis Center. We have

         23  Tandy O'Donoghue, Karen Mangiacapre, and Matt Obel

         24  -- Matt Abel.

         25                 MS. O'DONOGHUE: I'm the only one.
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          2  Well, I'll be brief.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: You can be brief,

          4  you can be detailed. That's your prerogative and we

          5  certainly honor that.

          6                 Ms. O'Donoghue, please proceed.

          7                 MS. O'DONOGHUE: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chairman, and Committee members. Thank you very much

          9  for inviting the USTA to participate today. We very

         10  much appreciate it.

         11                 Just briefly, to give a bit of

         12  background, you mentioned the NTC as well, and the

         13  USTA is a national governing body for the sport of

         14  tennis in the United States. We're a not-for-profit.

         15  We have more than 700,000 members. We invest 100

         16  percent of our proceeds in the development and

         17  growth of tennis from grassroots to the professional

         18  level.

         19                 We own and operate the US Open, which

         20  is perhaps what we are most well-known for here in

         21  the New York area and we also operate the USTA

         22  Billie Jean King National Tennis Center on a

         23  year-round basis. And that facility is located, of

         24  course, in Flushing Meadows Corona Park, adjacent to

         25  Shea Stadium, and soon-to-be adjacent to Citifield.
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          2                 We operate that facility under a

          3  long-term lease with the City, and we are almost at

          4  the 30-year anniversary of that facility being

          5  opened. It opened in 1978. It's an extremely unique

          6  facility that we are very, very proud of, and very

          7  proud of our partnership with the City of New York.

          8  It's a world class venue, and 11 months of the year

          9  serves as the world's largest tennis facility, open

         10  to the public.

         11                 So, it's a facility that is, our

         12  patrons and the public of the City of New York are

         13  using mass transit to get to it year-round.

         14                 The USTA pays the City approximately

         15  $2 million a year. This year will be a little bit

         16  more in rent each year for that facility, and it was

         17  built entirely without the use of taxpayer dollars.

         18  That's also something we're very proud of.

         19                 Speaking specifically to the US Open,

         20  the gentleman from the MTA earlier mentioned surge

         21  events, and I think it's fair to say that the US

         22  Open is perhaps the quintessential surge event for

         23  the City of New York.

         24                 It's a three-week event including our

         25  qualifying, but the two weeks that everyone really
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          2  focuses on this year established a new record for

          3  us.

          4                 We had more than 700,000 people visit

          5  the US Open, more than 700,000 fans pass through our

          6  gates. As you can imagine, that's quite a surge and

          7  quite a bit of use of mass transit, something we

          8  promote, and, again, something we're also very proud

          9  of.

         10                 US Open has economic impact each year

         11  for the City in excess of $700 million. It's the

         12  largest annually attended sporting event in the

         13  world, and that economic impact is the largest of

         14  any event staged annually in the United States.

         15                 So, as you can imagine, an event of

         16  this size certainly requires the coordination

         17  between the USTA, the City and a number of agencies

         18  and departments, including the MTA.

         19                 In recent years in particular, it has

         20  been extremely important for us to collaborate with

         21  the agencies, collaborate with the MTA and plan well

         22  in advance, especially due to the construction of

         23  CitiField, which has obviously has had an impact on

         24  an already limited number of parking spots. With

         25  that in mind, and with the support and guidance of
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          2  Mayor Bloomberg's office, we have partnered with the

          3  MTA in an effort to jointly promote the use of mass

          4  transit to US Open attendees, certainly as the

          5  preferred method of coming to the US Open,

          6  particularly during US Open and Mets overlap days,

          7  which the number of those days vary from

          8  year-to-year.

          9                 Prior to both the 2006 and 2007 US

         10  Open, with the help of the MTA, the USTA created and

         11  distributed a number of collateral pieces, that

         12  included MTA logos, maps and schedules, and in both

         13  years travel alerts were mailed to all US Open

         14  subscribers and patrons who purchased their tickets

         15  through Ticket Master.

         16                 The official websites of the US Open

         17  and the MTA were linked to provide our patrons with

         18  the latest travel information, the latest schedules

         19  and to certainly encourage our patrons to use mass

         20  transit.

         21                 We have also worked very closely with

         22  the MTA, particularly within the last two years, and

         23  something we plan to do moving forward to increase

         24  our direct communication.

         25                 As the gentleman from the MTA
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          2  mentioned earlier, it's a bit difficult with a

          3  tennis tournament and a tennis match, there is no

          4  set period of time. You have to stay in constant

          5  contact to know when 23,000 people will be spilling

          6  out of Arthur Ash Stadium at the end of a night

          7  session.

          8                 And we have stayed in contact with

          9  the MTA to make sure that they have adequate No. 7

         10  trains during those peak times.

         11                 In addition this year, and this was

         12  extremely helpful, we certainly encourage the MTA to

         13  do it going forward, the MTA deployed additional

         14  agents to the number 7 Station at Willets Point,

         15  Willets Point Shea Stadium, during the US Open to

         16  provide patrons with very helpful and very eager

         17  guidance and assistance, and for many of these

         18  people who were international visitors, it was quite

         19  a way to welcome them to New York and serve as an

         20  ambassador.

         21                 Our research shows for our patrons

         22  who were surveyed this year that the partnership

         23  with the MTA is working and it's something we will

         24  continue. More than 57 percent of our patrons took

         25  mass transit to get to the US Open this year. So,
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          2  we're certain that's increased ridership for the MTA

          3  and we feel very strongly that we will continue to

          4  work going forward, to make sure that both the USTA

          5  and the MTA are equipped to handle that.

          6                 That's it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great. Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 MS. O'DONOGHUE: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think it's

         11  encouraging that we see a large percentage of

         12  patrons using mass transit, and we will look to see

         13  what we could do to increase that even further.

         14                 We hope that the MTA will encourage

         15  the use of the subways even more so, if they put on

         16  the express service as they did for the Mets ball

         17  games.

         18                 MS. O'DONOGHUE: Yes. And Mr.

         19  Chairman, you had mentioned that earlier in speaking

         20  with the gentleman from the MTA. When we learned

         21  that they were starting that service following Mets'

         22  games, we asked if they would consider it during the

         23  US Open, as well, to happen during the 14

         24  consecutive days of the US Open. We were told that

         25  it was something experimental, that they were

                                                            90

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  starting in 2006, but given the success it's

          3  certainly a request that we will submit once again

          4  for 2008, and we hope that they will do it this year

          5  during the Open.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great. Well, let us

          7  know if they are not getting back to you on a timely

          8  basis.

          9                 MS. O'DONOGHUE: We're sure they'll

         10  get back to us. They've been a very good partner

         11  with us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well, let's hope

         13  they get back to you with affirmative news.

         14                 MS. O'DONOGHUE: Absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         16  Thanks very much for participating in today's

         17  hearing.

         18                 MS. O'DONOGHUE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: There being no other

         20  witnesses, this hearing is adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 12:20 p.m.)
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